FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/5/2021 2:44 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/6/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 99736-5

(Court of Appeals No. 80376-0-I)

SOLOMON ALEMU, an individual; GETACHEW TADESSE, an individual; TESFAYE AYELE, an individual,

Respondents/Plaintiffs,

v.

IMPERIAL PARKING (U.S.), LLC, a foreign limited liability company, dba Impark,

Petitioner/Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF IMPERIAL PARKING (U.S.), LLC

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Imperial Parking (U.S.), LLC ("Impark") seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this petition.

This appeal presents a novel question of statutory interpretation. Under SeaTac Municipal Code Chapter 7.45 ("the Ordinance"), only covered "Transportation Employers" and "Hospitality Employers" must pay employees an enhanced minimum wage and other benefits.¹ The Ordinance defines both types of employers to exclude businesses that do not employ certain threshold numbers of employees. The Court of Appeals held that Impark was a covered employer because it was a subcontractor to a Hospitality Employer, even though it did not employ the required number of employees to qualify as either a Transportation Employer or a Hospitality Employer.

This ruling was error. *First*, the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to the Ordinance's language, structure, and clear intent to exclude employers with small SeaTac workforces from the Ordinance's requirements. *Second*, it conflicts with this Court's decisions holding that "[a] general statutory provision must yield to a more specific statutory provision," *Association of Washington Spirits and Wine Distributors v.*

1

¹ A copy of the Ordinance is included in the Appendix. See App. B.

Washington State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 356 (2015); and that statutes must be read "as a whole, and to determine intent from more than a single sentence," King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 543, 560 (2000). Third, it conflicts with the Court of Appeals' holding in another case—issued the same day as its decision in this case—that the Ordinance deliberately chose to exclude subcontractors providing transportation services from coverage, Hassan v. GCA Production Services, Inc., __ Wn. App. __, 2021 WL 1247949 (No. 80542-8-I, April 5, 2021) (published opinion).

For these reasons, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Impark seeks review of the decision filed by Division One on April 5, 2021 (the "Decision"), affirming the trial court's orders granting summary judgment to Plaintiffs and denying summary judgment to Impark. A copy of the Decision is included in the Appendix. *See* App. A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that a Transportation Employer that is exempt from the Ordinance because it has fewer than 25 employees can nevertheless be subject to the Ordinance as a subcontractor to a Hospitality Employer?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that subcontractors of Hospitality Employers are subject to the Ordinance even if they do not meet the minimum employer size requirements that apply to Hospitality Employers?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

Impark is a parking lot management company. CP 51. In 2002, Impark entered into an Agreement with the Doubletree Seattle Airport Hotel ("Doubletree") to operate, maintain, and manage the hotel's parking facility. CP 51-52, 55-60. The Agreement ended in August 2018. CP 52. Under the Agreement, Doubletree granted Impark a license to provide parking lot management services in exchange for a percentage of gross parking revenue. *Id.* The hotel's parking facility had approximately 950 parking spaces and was located within the geographic boundaries of the City of SeaTac. *Id.*

Until 2008, Impark managed the parking lot with attendants who collected fees at parking booths. CP 52. In 2008, Impark continued managing the parking lot as a self-park operation and was responsible for monitoring and maintaining the equipment that collected the fees. *Id.* Starting in 2008, Impark also offered a "park and ride" service available to anyone, including hotel guests, traveling through SeaTac International

Airport and provided off-airport parking for their vehicles. *Id.*

In 2013, the voters of the City of SeaTac approved a local minimum wage initiative that covers "Transportation Employers" and "Hospitality Employers" that meet certain criteria. *See* App. B (SMC Ch. 7.45). The Ordinance requires covered employers to pay their employees a minimum wage of at least \$15 per hour and to provide them with a host of other benefits and protections. *Id.* §§ 7.45.020-.090.

The Ordinance defines a covered "Transportation Employer" in relevant part as follows:

- 2) A transportation employer also includes any person who:
 - a) operates or provides rental car services utilizing or operating a fleet of more than one hundred (100) cars; shuttle transportation utilizing or operating a fleet of more than ten (10) vans or buses; or parking lot management controlling more than one hundred (100) parking spaces; and
 - b) employs twenty-five (25) or more nonmanagerial, nonsupervisory employees in the performance of that operation.

Id. § 7.45.010(M) (emphasis and underlining added).

The Ordinance defines a covered "Hospitality Employer" as follows:

"Hospitality Employer" means a person who operates within the City any Hotel that has one hundred (100) or more guest rooms and thirty (30) or more workers or who operates any institutional foodservice or retail operation employing ten (10) or more nonmanagerial, nonsupervisory employees. This shall include any person who employs others providing services for customers on the aforementioned premises, such as a temporary agency or subcontractor.

Id. § 7.45.010(D) (emphasis and underlining added).

The Ordinance defines a covered "Hotel" as follows:

"Hotel" means a building that is used for temporary lodging and other related services for the public, and also includes any contracted, leased, or sublet premises connected to or operated in conjunction with such building's purpose (such as a restaurant, bar or spa) or providing services at such building.

Id. § 7.45.010(F).

It is undisputed that Impark did not employ 25 or more employees within the City of SeaTac, and therefore did not meet the employer size requirements for "Transportation Employers" or "Hotel" employers. CP 52-53, 61-64.

B. Procedural History.

Plaintiffs are former Impark employees who worked for Impark during Impark's Agreement with Doubletree. CP 2. In April 2018, Plaintiffs filed this putative class action alleging that Impark failed to pay

them the minimum wage required by the Ordinance. CP 1-9. Impark responded that it was not covered by the Ordinance because (among other reasons) it did not meet the Ordinance's employer size requirements. CP 12-25.

In January 2019, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on the issue of whether Impark was a covered employer. CP 26-41, 65-73. Impark contended it was entitled to summary judgment dismissal of the case because it was a "parking lot management" company, governed by the definition of Transportation Employer, but did not meet that definition's employer size requirements. CP 30-32. Impark further contended that the more specific language in that definition (which expressly addresses parking lot management companies) controls over the more general language in the definition of Hospitality Employer (which does not). CP 32-34. Finally, Impark argued that even if the latter definition applied, Impark did not meet the employer size requirements to be a Hospitality Employer. CP 152-54.

Plaintiffs did not dispute that Impark's workforce was too small to make Impark a covered Transportation Employer. CP 69. Instead, they argued on summary judgment that Impark was a Hospitality Employer based solely on the second sentence of that definition, which states: "This shall include any person who employs others providing services for

customers on the aforementioned premises, such as a temporary agency or subcontractor." App. B, SMC § 7.45.010(D). Plaintiffs claimed that this sentence is not subject to the employer size requirements set forth in the first sentence, and extends coverage of the Ordinance to employers with just a single employee. CP 142.

On July 19, 2019, the trial court adopted Plaintiffs' interpretation of the Ordinance, denied Impark's motion for summary judgment, and granted Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment on the issue of liability. CP 170-74.

The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review under the "obvious error" standard, RAP 2.3(b)(1), finding that "Impark makes a cogent argument that plaintiff's interpretation of the ordinance is inconsistent with its plain language, ignores the structure of the ordinance, and is contrary to well established rules of statutory construction, and particularly the general/specific rule." App. C at 4. Ultimately, however, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court.

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals agreed with Impark that Impark was a Transportation Employer under the plain meaning of the Ordinance, and did not meet the employer size requirement because it had fewer than 25 employees. App. A at 9-10. It also held, however, that Impark "can be both a transportation employer, not subject to the ordinance, and a

hospitality employer's subcontractor, subject to the ordinance." *Id.* at 11. This was possible, the Court of Appeals reasoned, because the two definitions were not "mutually exclusive," and the definition of Transportation Employer did not explicitly say that Transportation Employers with small workforces were "exempt" from the Ordinance. *Id.* at 12.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that Impark's interpretation of the definition of Hospitality Employer—that the subcontractor coverage in the second sentence incorporates the employer size requirements in the first sentence—was a "reasonable reading" of the Ordinance. *Id.* at 7. The court concluded, however, that Impark's interpretation would lead to strained and unlikely results; that it was "not inconsistent with the ordinance's intent that a small subcontractor be subject to the ordinance"; and that "the ordinance's purpose is best served by the inclusion of subcontractors like Impark, notwithstanding the employer's number of hired staff." *Id.* at 7-8.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals' Holding That a Transportation Employer With Even a Single Employee Can Be Subject to the Ordinance as a Hotel Subcontractor Is Contrary to This Court's Decisions Regarding the General-Specific Rule and the Nature of Small Employer Exemptions.

The Ordinance specifically addresses "parking lot management"

companies in its definition of Transportation Employer. App. B, SMC § 7.45.010(M)(2)(a). That definition states that such companies are covered by the Ordinance only if they employ 25 or more employees. *Id.* § 7.45.010(M)(2)(b). It thus intentionally excludes from coverage all parking lot management companies that do *not* employ at least 25 employees. It is undisputed that Impark is a parking lot management company that employed fewer than 25 employees in SeaTac. App. A at 9-10. The Court of Appeals therefore correctly held that Impark is a Transportation Employer "under the plain meaning" of the Ordinance, but "did not meet the employee threshold because it employed less than 25 workers." *Id.* at 9. The Court of Appeals should have directed entry of summary judgment for Impark on this basis.

The Court of Appeals also held, however, that "Impark can be both a transportation employer, not subject to the ordinance, and a hospitality employer's subcontractor, subject to the ordinance." *Id.* at 11. This interpretation of the Ordinance ignores the basic rule of statutory construction, oft-repeated by this Court, that "[a] general statutory provision must yield to a more specific statutory provision." *Association of Washington Spirits and Wine Distributors v. Washington State Liquor Control Bd.*, 182 Wn.2d 342, 356 (2015); *see also Waste Mgmt. of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities and Transp. Com'n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 630 (1994) ("A specific

statute will supersede a general one when both apply"); *Brown v. City of Seattle*, 117 Wn. App. 781, 791-92 (2003) ("Where there are both general and specific [statutory] provisions that arguably apply, the specific governs over the general").

The definition of Transportation Employer specifically addresses parking lot management companies, whereas the definition of Hospitality Employer does not. Moreover, the definition of Transportation Employer expresses a clear and unmistakable intent to exclude parking lot management companies with small workforces from coverage. The question, therefore, is whether there is anything in the more general definition of Hospitality Employer sufficient to overcome this clear intent. There is not.

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, voter initiatives such as the Ordinance must be read "as the average informed lay voter would read [them]." App. A at 5 (quoting *Parents Involved in Community Schools v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1,* 149 Wn.2d 660, 671 (2003)). Based on the Ordinance's plain language, the average informed lay voter would read it as exempting Transportation Employers with small workforces from coverage. It is doubtful it would even occur to such a voter that a Transportation Employer might provide guest services to a covered Hotel as a subcontractor. It is even less likely that such a voter would read the general

language regarding Hotel subcontractors as superseding the specific language excluding Transportation Employers with small workforces from coverage. The Court of Appeals' conclusion to the contrary was error.

The Court of Appeals' reliance on this Court's decision in Saucedo v. John Hancock Life & Health Ins. Co., 185 Wn.2d 171 (2016), is misplaced. That case holds that under Washington's Farm Labor Contractor Act ("FLCA"), the definitions of "agricultural employer" and "farm labor contractor" are not "mutually exclusive," and that an agricultural employer can also be a farm labor contractor if it satisfies both definitions. Id. at 180. Both of those definitions, however, broadly encompass "any person" engaged in those respective activities, which are themselves broadly defined. See RCW 19.10.030(2) ("Agricultural employer' means any person engaged in agricultural activity"); RCW 19.10.030(5) ("Farm labor contractor' means any person, or his or her agent or subcontractor, who, for a fee, performs any farm labor contracting activity"). Unlike the Ordinance in this case, neither of the FLCA's definitions contains a blanket exclusion shielding small employers from coverage.²

-

² The definition of farm labor contractor contains a narrow exclusion that applies to "a person performing farm labor contracting activity solely for a small forestland owner as defined in RCW 76.09.450 who receives services of no more than two agricultural employees at any given time." RCW 19.10.030(5). But that exclusion was not applicable to the defendants in *Saucedo*, so was not at issue in that case.

In addition, the definitions in the FLCA impose different legal obligations that complement rather than conflict with each other: farm labor contractors are required to be licensed, and agricultural employers are prohibited from using unlicensed farm labor contractors. RCW 19.10.110; RCW 19.10.200. As a result, both definitions can be applied to a single company without subjecting it to contradictory mandates and immunities. In this case, by contrast, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of Hospitality Employer conflicts with the Ordinance's definition of Transportation Employer, because it would require parking lot management companies with small workforces to pay SeaTac's minimum wage, even though the definition of Transportation Employer expressly excuses them from this payment obligation.

To avoid such a conflict, and to harmonize the two parts of the Ordinance, the more general definition of Hospitality Employer must be interpreted in a manner consistent with the more specific definition of Transportation Employer, which excludes Impark from the Ordinance's coverage. *See, e.g., Association of Washington Spirits and Wine Distributors*, 182 Wn.2d at 356 (holding that "the general statutory provisions of RCW 66.24.640 and RCW 66.28.330(4) [regulating distributors of spirits] do not supersede the specific provisions of subsection (c)(3)"); *Waste Mgmt.*, 123 Wn.2d at 629-30 ("This general provision [in

the solid waste collection statute] would govern the disposal fees involved here, except that there is another, more specific provision which applies, RCW 81.77.160"); *Brown*, 117 Wn. App. at 791-92 (general provisions in city code did not override code's specific provision exempting vessels from regulation).

The Court of Appeals failed to interpret the Ordinance in accordance with this basic rule of construction. It also held that the definition of Transportation Employer does not explicitly and specifically state that Transportation Employers with fewer than 25 employees are "exempt" from the Ordinance. App. A at 11. To the extent the Decision suggests that specific "exemption" language is required, this is also error. As this Court has held, minimum employer size requirements—which are common in employment statutes—are the equivalent of an exemption, and reflect an intent to exempt employers with small workforces from a statute's coverage. See Griffin v. Eller, 130 Wn.2d 58, 61-64 (1996) (holding that under the Washington Law Against Discrimination, which defines "employer" as any person "who employs eight or more persons," employers of fewer than eight employees are "exempt" from the statute's coverage, and referring to this minimum size requirement as a "small employer exemption").

The Decision thus conflicts with this Court's decisions applying the

general-specific rule; misconstrues this Court's decision in *Saucedo* to create what would amount to a large and unwarranted exception to that rule; and ignores this Court's holding that employer size requirements are the equivalent of statutory exemptions. The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) to correct these errors.

B. The Court of Appeals' Holding That a Transportation Employer With Even a Single Employee Can Be Subject to the Ordinance as a Hotel Subcontractor Is Contrary to a Separate Court of Appeals Holding—Issued the Same Day in Another Case—That the Ordinance Deliberately Excludes Subcontractors Providing Transportation Services.

The Decision also conflicts with another opinion the Court of Appeals issued the same day in another case. In *Hassan v. GCA Production Services, Inc.*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 2021 WL 1247949 (No. 80542-8-I, April 5, 2021) (published opinion), the defendant GCA contracted with Avis rental car company to shuttle Avis's rental cars to and from SeaTac Airport. The Court of Appeals held that GCA was not a Transportation Employer covered by the Ordinance, because it did not provide or operate "rental car services" under the ordinary meaning of those terms. *Id.* at *3-4. The court further held that GCA was not subject to the Ordinance as a *subcontractor* to Avis, because unlike the definition of Hospitality Employer, the definition of Transportation Employer does not include any language covering subcontractors. *Id.* at *4. The court reasoned that "when the

ordinance intends to include subcontractors, like GCA, it does so expressly," and that the omission of subcontractors from the definition of Transportation Employer reflected a deliberate intent to exclude them from coverage. *Id*.

Thus, not only does the Ordinance exempt Transportation Employers with small workforces from coverage, *it deliberately chose to exclude subcontractors providing transportation services from coverage*. The Court of Appeals does not even mention this choice in its Decision in this case, much less try to reconcile it with the court's expansive reading of the subcontractor provision in the definition of Hospitality Employer. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) to reconcile the Court of Appeals' conflicting decisions.

C. The Court of Appeals' Holding That the Definition of Hospitality Employer Covers Subcontractors With Even a Single Employee Is Contrary to This Court's Rules of Statutory Construction and the Ordinance's Clear Intent to Exclude Employers With Small Workforces From Coverage.

Even if a parking lot management company could be a covered Hospitality Employer, Impark did not meet that definition's employer size requirements, which are established in the definition's first sentence and incorporated in its second sentence.

As this Court has instructed, statutes must be read "as a whole, and

Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d at 560. "Effect should be given to all of the language used, and the provisions must be considered in relation to each other, and harmonized to ensure proper construction." Id. The Ordinance must therefore be considered as a whole to determine the meaning of its specific provisions, and the two sentences comprising the definition of Hospitality Employer must be read together.

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