FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/4/2021 4:26 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 99736-5

(Court of Appeal No. 80376-0-1)

SOLOMON ALEMU, an individual; GETACHEW TADESSE, an individual; TESFAYE AYELE, an individual,

Respondents/Plaintiffs,

v.

IMPERIAL PARKING (U.S.), LLC, a foreign limited liability company, dba Impark.

Petitioner/Defendant.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

given a more specific statute *only* if the two statutes deal with the same subject matter and conflict to such an extent that they cannot be harmonized.

In re Estate of Kerr, 134 Wn.2d 328, 335, 949 P.2d 810, 814 (1998). Statutes are to be read as complimentary, rather than conflicting. *See Cossel v. Skagit Cy.*, 119 Wn.2d 434, 437, 834 P.2d 609 (1992).

The Ordinance does not support Impark's assertion that the hospitality and transportation employer definitions are mutually exclusive and conflict. SMC §7.45.010(D) & M. Rather, Impark's interpretation requires additional language which is not present within the Ordinance. *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155, 158 (2006) *quoting Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002) (""Courts may not read into a statute matters that are not in it and may not create legislation under the guise of interpreting a statute."). If the Ordinance's definitions were truly intended to be mutually exclusive, as Impark asserts, the required change to SMC §7.45.010(D) would have been modest:

This shall include any person who employs others providing services for customers on the aforementioned premises, such as a temporary agency or subcontractor, *[except for persons providing services describe in Section M below.]*

SMC §7.45.010(D), modifications in brackets. But the Ordinance's drafters did not include such an exclusion, nor was it approved by SeaTac

voters. Thus, it is improper to add such language through statutory interpretation.

Impark's application of the general-specific rule is premised on the misconception that it **cannot provide both** transportation and hospitality services. Petition, pg. 12. That fallacy is reflected in Impark's repetitive self-identification as a "parking lot management" company. *Id.*, pg. 10.³ The uncontested evidence demonstrates that the Impark subcontracted with the Hotel to provide on-site valets, a fundamental hospitality role.

According to Impark, the roles and duties of its 24 on-site employees is **totally irrelevant**, as long as it also "manages" a 100-space parking lot. Even if Impark employed maids, housekeepers, and waiters at the Hotel, it would assert they were "transportation workers" for purposes of the Ordinance. In advocating this tortured interpretation, Impark desperately seeks to avoid paying the lawful wage.

The Ordinance's transportation and hospitality employer definitions offer complimentary and independent bases for

³ As in prior briefing, Impark fails to even acknowledge the valet duties performed by its employees at the Hotel, only admitting they provided "certain services." Petition, pg. 3-5, 17.

qualification, preventing employers from subcontracting hospitality services to avoid liability. The definitions' harmonious interaction reflects the Ordinance's explicit purpose of ensuring "...all people employed in the hospitality and transportation industries in SeaTac have good wages..." SMC §7.45, Section 1 (portions omitted).

The Ordinance is distinguishable from statutes to which the general-specific rule applied. In *Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, cited by Impark, the court considered regulations governing self-distributing alcohol distillers, and licensed spirit distributors. 182 Wash. 2d 342, 357, 340 P.3d 849, 856 (2015). Under RCW 66.24.055(3)(c), licensed "spirit distributors" were required to contribute to shortfalls in license revenue. *Id.* The distributors asserted that RCW 66.24.240 and RCW 66.28.330(4), statutes authorizing distillers to self-distribute, required distillers also contribute to the shortfall. *Id.* After considering these statutes, the court determined that RCW 66.24.055(3)(c) specifically allocated shortfall liability to spirit distribution licensees, and that RCW 66.24.240's general requirement that distillers "…comply with applicable laws and

rules relating to distributors/or retailers" did not require they contribute. *Id.* at 356.

In *Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs*, the court was asked to reconcile three separate and clearly conflicting statutes, two of which broadly required self-distributing distillers to comply with distribution regulations, and another, which specifically assigned liability for revenue shortfalls to licensed "spirit distributors." RCW 66.24.640, RCW 66.28.339, RCW 66.24.055. A harmonious interpretation of those statutes would lead to absurd results, namely requiring self-distributing distillers to meet all the same requirements as licensed spirit distributors. *Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs.*, 182 Wash. 2d 342, 357 (2015).⁴ Similarly, in *Brown v. City of Seattle*, the court interpreted two distinct code provisions, one of which provided a specific and detailed exemption. 117 Wash. App. 781, 791, 72 P.3d 764, 769 (2003). Unlike the statutes in those cases, the Ordinance is a single

⁴ Similar absurdity would result from Impark's assertion that the hospitality subcontractor definition implicitly incorporates the same employee threshold as for hospitality employers despite no linguistic bases for that interpretation. Impark Petition, pg. 16. The logical extension of this interpretation, as the *Alemu* Court recognized, is that hospitality subcontractors must also "own a hotel with 100 guestrooms." App. A, pg. 7.

statute, passed by SeaTac voters as a comprehensive framework. As such, to the extent possible, the definitions for transportation and hospitality employers should be read as complimentary criteria for employer qualification.

Impark incorrectly asserts the Ordinance contains "a blanket exclusion shielding small employers from coverage." Petition, pg. 11. The Ordinance is a remedial statute, and thus, exemptions will only be applied to "situations which are plainly and unmistakably consistent with the terms and spirit of the legislation." *Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC*, 176 Wash. App 694, 694, 309 P.3d 711 (2013), aff'd 181 Wash. 2d 186, 332 P.3d 415 (2014). Remedial legislation is construed in favor of employees. *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett*, 146 Wn.2d 29, 34, 42 P.3d 1265, 1267 (2002). But, according to Impark, the exclusion arises from the Ordinance's employee thresholds, although those thresholds are conspicuously absent from the hospitality subcontractor criteria. SMC §7.45.010(D).

Impark relies on the asserted presence of a "blanket exclusion" to distinguish this case from *Saucedo v. John Hancock Life & Health Insurance Co.*, 185 Wn.2d 171, 369 P.3d 150 (2016). As the Court of Appeals recognized, *Saucedo* offers an instructive exemplar for interpretation of harmonious and non-

exclusive statutes. App. A, pg. 10, discussing *Saucedo* in detail. In that case, interpreting the Farm Labor Contractor Act ("FLCA"), the defendant argued that because its primary services were enumerated under "agricultural employer," it could not also qualify as a "farm labor contractor." *Saucedo*, 185 Wn.2d 171, 180. The court dismissed that argument, noting "the fact that [defendant] also meets the statutory definition of 'agricultural employer' is **irrelevant**, if it was paid by a third party to recruit, employ, and supply farm laborers, [then it qualified as a farm labor contractor]." *Id.* (emphasis added). Here, it is uncontested that Impark employed workers on Hotel property to provide services to Hotel guests. SMC §7.45.010(D). The fact that it employed less than the threshold necessary to **also** qualify as a transportation employer is irrelevant.

The hospitality and transportation employer definitions should be interpreted harmoniously to maintain the integrity of the Ordinance. *See Schumacher v. Williams*, 107 Wn. App. 793, 801 n.15, 28 P.3d 792 (2001) (citing *State v. Chapman*, 140 Wn.2d 436, 448, 998 P.2d 282, 288 (2000)). As the provisions do not conflict, the general-specific rule has no application and Impark has failed to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1). Therefore, its Petition must be denied.

B. Impark Misconstrues Authority to Conjure Conflict.

Impark's heavy reliance on *Hassan v. GCA Prod. Servs., Inc.* to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(2) is misplaced. No. 80542-8-I, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 770, at *1 (Ct. App. Apr. 5, 2021). In that case, GCA subcontracted with Avis-Budget Car Rental to shuttle rental vehicles between SeaTac International Airport and other Puget Sound locations. *Id.* at 3. GCA employees brought suit, claiming the entity "provided rental car services," thereby qualifying as a "Transportation Employer" under the Ordinance. *Id.*, at 4. That interpretation was rejected on summary judgment, and the trial court ruled that GCA was exempt from the Ordinance. ⁵ The appellate court agreed, finding that the Ordinance did not extend coverage to subcontractors of transportation employers, like GCA.⁶ The outcome in *Hassan*, contrary to Impark's assertion, is in harmony with the outcome here.

⁵ The conclusions of the trial and appellate courts in *Hassan* mirrored that in *Jama v. GCA Servs. Grp.*, No. C16-0331RSL, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153622, at *4 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 3, 2016), a preceding class action brought on behalf of the same putative class.

⁶ "...when the ordinance intends to include subcontractors, like GCA, it does so expressly. That is, the definition of "hospitality employer" states that a hospitality employer "shall include subcontractor[s]." *Hassan*, No. 80542-8-I, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 770, at *7 (Ct. App. Apr. 5, 2021).

Despite Impark's muddling, the actions are easily distinguishable. In *Hassan*, GCA subcontracted with Avis-Budget, a qualified transportation employer. *Id.* at 9. The Ordinance's definition of transportation employers omits subcontractors. *Id.* If Impark had itself subcontracted with a transportation employer, like GCA, it would also be exempt from the Ordinance. But that is not what occurred here.

Impark subcontracted with the Hotel, an undisputed **hospitality employer**, to provide services to Hotel guests on Hotel property. CP 109-110, 135-37. The Ordinance's definition of hospitality employer, unlike that for transportation employers, specifically includes subcontractors that provide onsite services to guests. SMC §7.45.010(D); *Hassan*, No. 80542-8-I, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 770, at *10 (Ct. App. Apr. 5, 2021) ("...the definition of 'hospitality employer' states that a hospitality employer shall include...subcontractor[s].") The *Alemu* and *Hassan* opinions offer a harmonious interpretation of the Ordinance that require inclusion of subcontractors, like Impark, within the definition of hospitality employer.

Because this action arises from a local ordinance, there is no possibility for disagreement between various appellate divisions. Future disputes requiring interpretation of the Ordinance will be resolved by Division One. As to RAP 13.4(b)(4), Impark has failed to articulate any

discernible public interest in this dispute. Impark cannot satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (b)(4), and its Petition should be denied.

C. The Subcontractor Clause Does Not Incorporate The Thirty-Employee Threshold.

In its Petition, Impark claims the Court of Appeals errored by rejecting its proposed criteria for hospitality subcontractors. Petition, pg. 17-19.⁷ Impark asserts that only the employee-threshold criterion is incorporated into the subcontractor clause. *Id.* This interpretation is unsupported by authority and would lead to strained results.

When legislative drafters include particular language in one sentence, but omit it in another, the exclusion is presumed intentional. *State v. Lynch*, 178 Wn.2d 487, 505, 309 P.3d 482, 491 (2013); *BFP v. Resolution Trust Corp.*, 511 U.S. 531, 537, 114 S. Ct. 1757, 128 L. Ed. 2d

SMC §7.45.010(D).

⁷ The Ordinance defines "hospitality employer" as a person who

operates within the City any hotel that has one hundred (100) or more guest rooms and thirty (30) or more workers or who operates any institutional foodservice or retail operation employing ten (10) or more nonmanagerial, nonsupervisory employees. This shall include any person who employs others providing services for customers on the aforementioned premises, such as a temporary agency or subcontractor.

556 (1994). Here, Ordinance includes employee-threshold requirements for three categories of employers: hotels, institutional foodservice and retail, and qualified transportation employers. SMC §7.45. The Ordinance **does not** include any employee threshold for hospitality subcontractors. Despite the presumed intent of that omission, Impark nevertheless seeks its insertion.

Impark's interpretation is unreasonable. In the Hotel context, there are two applicable criteria for hospitality employers: (1) an entity must operate a hotel with at least one hundred guest rooms and (2) employ thirty workers. SMC §7.45.010(D). Impark expressly asserts that the subcontractor clause only incorporates **one** of these: the employee-threshold. Petition, pg. 17. Impark justifies this selective, and self-serving, interpretation by claiming it is the "most reasonable" explanation. *Id.* As the Court of Appeals recognized, the logical extension of Impark's interpretation is to incorporate both criteria, but that this would lead to strained results. App. A, pg. 7.

Impark's interpretation effectively re-writes the subcontractor clause to state: "[t]his shall include any person who employs **[thirty or more]** others..." SMC §7.45.010(D), addition in brackets. That revision is improper, and contrary to the presumed intentional omission. *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn. 2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283,

1288 (2010) (courts will not add words when drafters chose not to include them); *Kucana v. Holder*, 558 U.S. 233, 249, 130 S. Ct. 827, 838 (2010) (when language is used in one section of a statute but not in another, it is generally presumed intentional and purposeful.)

Impark also contends the Court of Appeals errored by failing to harmonize the Ordinance's desire to protect small businesses with the absence of an employee-threshold for hospitality subcontractors. Contrary to Impark's assertion, there is no disharmony. Rather, the Ordinance's purpose is reflected in the guest room and employee thresholds for prime hospitality contractors, like the Hotel. SMC §7.45.010(D). Those criteria exempt smaller motels and hotels, and their subcontractors. But here, the Hotel satisfies the criteria as a larger hospitality employer, therefore its onsite subcontractors are subject to the Ordinance.

Impark repeatedly argues that under the Court of Appeals' interpretation, vendors with "just one employee" are subject to the Ordinance. Petition, pg. 18. Impark asserts that this interpretation contradicts the subcontractor clause's use of "others." *Id*. This assertion is striking, given that it has no basis within the *Alemu* decision. Exhibit A. The relevant portion of that decision states "...the Ordinance's purpose is best served by the inclusion of subcontractors like Impark, notwithstanding the employer's number of hired staff." App. A, pg. 8. By

using the term "staff", the Court of Appeals acknowledged the subcontractor clause's express requirement that at least two workers be employed. Impark's characterization of the Court of Appeals' decision is incorrect.

Finally, Impark's argument that the Court of Appeals's interpretation wrongfully extends liability to one-time vendors, like wedding hairstylists and photographers, is without merit. For those individuals to qualify as hotel subcontractors, they must directly contract with the Hotel, indicating they have an ongoing and repetitive relationship. Under the Court of Appeals's interpretation, vendors hired directly by wedding parties or Hotel guests would not qualify. Second, the Ordinance is only applied to the extent "…reasonably practicable…" SMC §7.45, Section 1, Findings.

Although it may be impractical for a one-time vendor to qualify, that is not the situation in this case. Rather, Impark employed approximately forty-nine employees as Hotel valets, twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week, for more than four years. This is clearly the arrangement anticipated by the subcontractor clause.

V. CONCLUSION.

Impark has failed to articulate a credible justification for discretionary review. This dispute arises from an acute question of

statutory interpretation, which Division One resolved in an even-handed and well-reasoned opinion. That opinion reflects controlling authority, as well as the Ordinance's intended purpose of providing a living wage for individuals in the hospitality industry, like Impark's employees at the Hotel. Therefore, this Court should deny the Petition, and allow this action to proceed.